1					
2	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF	F THE STATE C	OF NEVADA		
3	WILLIE MASON,				
4	Appellant,	No.: 68497	Electronically Filed Feb 08 2016 09:13 a.m		
5	Appenant,	110 00497	Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Cour		
6	VS.	DC No.: C26	·		
7	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	DC 110 C20	37882		
8	Respondent.				
9	Respondent.				
10					
11	APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF				
12					
13 14					
15	APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION IN THE		IN THE		
16	EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT, CLARK COUNTY		COUNTY		
17					
18					
19					
20					
21					
22	ROBERT I	L. LANGFORD,	Esq.		
23	Nevada Bar No. 3988				
24	MATTHEW J. RASHBROOK Nevada Bar No. 12477				
25		ROBERT L. LANGFORD & ASSOCIATES

#### 2. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1

2

17

18

19

20

21

23

24

Mr. Mason was charged in a criminal complaint, August 13, 2010. The 3 State of Nevada eventually field an indictment September 29, 2010. On October 13, 2010, the State of Nevada filed a Superseding Indictment, alleging that Mr. Mason had committed the following crimes: Count 1 – Conspiracy to Commit Robbery, Count 2 – Conspiracy to Commit Murder, Count 3 – Burglary while in Possession of a Firearm, Count 4 – Robbery with 10 use of a Deadly Weapon, Count 5 – Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon, 11 12 Count 6 – Robbery with use of a Deadly Weapon, Count 7 – Attempt Murder 13 with use of a Deadly Weapon, Count 8 – Battery with a Deadly Weapon 14 Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm. 16

A jury trial began January 20, 2015, before Senior Judge Charles

Thompson, who presided over the case following the Honorable Jerry Tao's appointment to the then-new Nevada Court of Appeals. Mr. Mason was tried alongside a co-defendant, David Burns. As to Mr. Burns, the State of Nevada gave notice of its intent to seek the death penalty. During the trial, the State of Nevada and Mr. Burns entered into an agreement under which both parties would stipulate to a sentence of life without the possibility of parole, were Mr. Burns to be found guilty of murder in the first degree following the jury's deliberations. Of course, by that time, both defendants were set to be tried by

a death-qualified jury. The trial spanned 17 days, and concluded February 17, 2015, when the jury returned a verdict of guilty on all counts faced by Mr. Mason. 5 On June 23, 2015, Judge Eric Johnson sentenced Appellant as follows: as to Count 1 – Conspiracy to Commit Robbery, to a term of 16 – 72 months in the Nevada Department of Corrections, as to Count 2 – Conspiracy to Commit Murder, to a term of 40 - 120 months in the Nevada Department of 10 Corrections to be served consecutively to Count 1, as to Count 3 – Burglary 11 12 while in Possession of a Firearm, to a term of 40 - 180 months in the Nevada 13 Department of Corrections, to be served concurrent to Count 2, as to Count 4 14 - Robbery with use of a Deadly Weapon, to a term of 40 - 180 months in the 15 16 Nevada Department of Corrections, with a consecutive 40 - 180 months for 17 the deadly weapon enhancement, to be served concurrent to Count 3, as to 19 Count 5 – Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon, to life without the possibility 20 of parole, with a consecutive 40 - 120 months for the deadly weapon 21 enhancement, to be served consecutive to Count 4, as to Count 6 – Robbery 23 with use of a Deadly Weapon, to a term of 40 - 180 months in the Nevada 24 Department of Corrections, with a consecutive 40 - 180 for the deadly

2

Attempt Murder with use of a Deadly Weapon, to a term of 53 - 240 months

weapon enhancement, to be served concurrent to Count 5, as to Count 7 –

in the Nevada Department of Corrections, with a consecutive 53 – 240 months for the deadly weapon enhancement, to be served consecutive to Count 6, and as to Count 8 – Battery with a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm, to a term of 40 – 180 months in the Nevada Department of Corrections, to be served concurrent to Count 7. The Court noted that Mr. Mason was, at that time, entitled to 1,743 days of credit for time already served. A judgment of Conviction was entered June 26, 2015, and on July 23, 2015, Mr. Mason timely filed his Notice of Appeal in the District Court.

#### 3. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Jerome Thomas is also known as 'Slick,' and also known as 'Job-Loc.' 14 AA00463, 21 – AA00464, 4. Late in the evening of August 6, 2010, or early 16 into the morning of August 7, 2010, Monica Martinez picked up Mr. Mason 17 and Mr. Burns from the apartment of Jerome Thomas. AA00391, 22 – 19 AA00392, 9. From there, the trio travelled to the Opera House. AA00395, 25 20 - AA00396, 7. From there, the trio travelled to the apartment of Stephanie 21 Cousins. AA00396, 8-10. From there, the group travelled to the scene of the 23 alleged murder. AA00397, 9 - 19. The group were travelling to the location of 24 the alleged murder for the purpose of participating in a drug deal. AA00487, 18 - AA00488, 4.

3

28

27

10

11

12

1 At or around 2:00 a.m., following the evening of August 6, 2010, Devonia Newman heard a knock at the door of her home, and when her mother opened the door, Stephanie Cousins was there. AA00640, 6-23; AA00643, 20 - 22. A man then entered the apartment, and shot Ms. 6 Newman's mother in the face. AA00644, 4 - 13. Ms. Newman then ran into her mother's bedroom, and then the bathroom, where her father was, and at that time she was shot in the stomach. AA00644, 25 - AA00645, 21. 10 Following the alleged murder, the murderer got back into Monica 11 12 Martinez' car. AA00431, 23 – AA00432, 10. The group then dropped off 13 Stephanie Cousins. AA00418, 25 – AA00419, 2. After dropping off Stephanie 14 Cousins, the group stopped at a Rebel, near the apartment of Jerome Thomas. 16 AA00419, 3-4. Later they stopped at the Texas Station hotel and casino, 17 AA00419, 5-6, before eventually returning to the apartment of Jerome 18 19 Thomas, AA00419, 7 - 8. Jerome Thomas' apartment is in a complex called 20 Brittany Pines, located on or near Torrey Pines. AA00459, 16 – AA00460, 9. 21 At approximately 3:00 to 4:00 in the morning of August 7, 2010, 22 23 Donovan Rowland attended at the apartment of Jerome Thomas, where 24 Jerome Thomas, Monica Martinez, Willie Mason, and another person were present. AA00464, 13 – AA00465, 12. The unnamed individual present at the 27

apartment was known to Mr. Rowland as 'D-Shot' or 'D-Shock.' AA00473, 9

– 15.

While at the apartment of Jerome Thomas, Mr. Rowland and Mr. Thomas have a conversation, during which Mr. Thomas asks Mr. Rowland to take a firearm and leave the apartment, and Mr. Rowland does so. AA00465, 20 - 25. In fact, Mr. Thomas asked Mr. Rowland to bury or sell the weapon, because it had been used to shoot a mother and daughter. AA00467, 1 - 17; AA00496, 3 - 5.

#### 4. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Mason moved for severance during the trial, on January 30, 2015, on the basis that if no severance was granted, Donovan Rowland, a witness called by the State of Nevada, was about to offer an unfairly prejudicial hearsay-within-hearsay statement naming Mr. Mason as the gunman in the alleged murder (AA00448, AA00454, 7-14). That motion was denied by Judge Thompson (AA00455, 10-11), following the argument of the State of Nevada that it would elicit no such testimony (AA00449, 2-10). Following that ruling, Donovan Rowland took the witness stand, and the State of Nevada elicited from him testimony, in the form of a hearsay-within-

hearsay statement, that Mr. Mason was the gunman in the alleged murder

(AA00486, 11 - 21). This was an extremely and unfairly prejudicial

inadmissible piece of evidence, whose admission was itself error, and which was the basis for the severance of the trials. The denial of the motion to sever, and the admission of this evidence, were both errors requiring reversal.

Mr. Mason was further prejudiced by commentary made by Judge Thompson from the bench, in the presence of the jury. During the testimony of Donovan Rowland, the State of Nevada sought permission of the Court to treat Mr. Rowland as a hostile witness, and the Court granted permission, explaining that "He's obviously identified with the defendants, not with the plaintiff. Strange identification, I must admit [. . .]" AA00514, 14 – 16. This statement was overtly prejudicial to both defendants, but particularly to Mr. Mason, given Mr. Rowland's testimony that it was in fact Mr. Mason who was the gunman in the alleged murder.

Mr. Mason was the victim of prosecutorial misconduct. Firstly, the State of Nevada, during the rebuttal argument, referred to the lacking credibility of a number of the witnesses, called by the State, stating "They're not my friends. These are people that are associated with these two defendants. You can't blame us for the quality of the witnesses." AA001009, 7 – 10. This statement, particularly when combined with Judge Thompson's improper statement at the time of Mr. Rowland's testimony, was improper and prejudicial, and requires reversal. Secondly, the State made an improper

argument regarding witness credibility, which misled the jurors as to the law on that matter, and requires reversal. In rebuttal argument, the State told the jury, "But more importantly, it's not about were they telling the truth on the stand completely about that." AA01009, 11 – 12. This statement directly contradicts the law as to witness credibility, well-established, that any witness the jury finds to not be truthful about a particular matter, the jury may disregard their testimony entirely, if they see fit to, law the jury was instructed on. AA01068.

Individually, any of these rulings or episodes of misconduct would necessitate reversal. The cumulative effect is clear: Judge Thompson refused severance, what followed included unfairly prejudicial testimony, upon which the Judge and the State made improper comments, exponentially increasing the prejudicial effect. These factors were only exacerbated by the repeated instances of prosecutorial misconduct during the closing argument and rebuttal, necessitating reversal.

### 5. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

### a. Standard of Review

This Court is guided by several well-established standards of review when considering matters on appeal. The district court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is generally reviewed for an abuse of discretion or manifest

error. Thomas v. State, 122 Nev. 1361, 1370, 148 P.3d 727, 734 (2006); see also Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1007, 103 P.3d 25, 29 (2004). Plain error review is generally only employed when an alleged error has not been preserved. Green v. State, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003). For improperly admitted hearsay evidence, this Court analyzes whether the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See Weber v. State, 121 Nev. 554, 579, 119 P.3d 107, 124 (2005); see also Witherow v. State, 104 Nev. 721, 724, 10 765 P.2d 1153, 1155 (1988). In *Dechant v. State*, this Court held that if the 11 12 cumulative effect of errors committed at trial denies the appellant his right to a 13 fair trial, this court will reverse the conviction. *Dechant*, 116 Nev. 918, 927, 14 10 P.3d 108 (2000) (citing *Big Pond v. State*, 101 Nev. 1, 3, 692 P.2d 1288, 15 16 1289 (1985)). 17 b. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR. MASON'S MOTION 18 19 FOR SEVERANCE, AND THE CONVICTION MUST, THEREFORE, BE 20

21

22

23

24

REVERSED.

On the ninth day of trial, January 30, 2015, Mr. Mason moved for severance of his trial from that of David Burns. AA00448, 2 – 13. Mr. Mason requested that severance because a witness, Donovan Rowland, was expected to testify that Mr. Mason was the gunman in the alleged murder, contrary to his previous statement. (*Id.*). This testimony created multiple errors: it created

antagonistic defenses between the co-defendants, necessitating severance, and
was admitted in error in this trial, prejudicing Mr. Mason. Ultimately the
testimony would become the subject of improper commentary by both Judge
Thompson and the State.

Linder Nev. Rev. Stat. 174 165, a defendant is entitled to have his trial

Under Nev. Rev. Stat. 174.165, a defendant is entitled to have his trial severed from that of another person if it appears that he will be prejudiced by being tried simultaneously. If it appears that such prejudice will be suffered, by any defendant or by the State of Nevada, a court is entitled to sever the trials, or to tailor other relief.

The burden lies on the defendant to show that the district court abused its discretion in denying his motion for severance. *Rowland v. State*, 118 Nev. 31, 44, 39 P.3d 114, 122 (2002), quoting *Amen v. State*, 106 Nev. 749, 756, 801 P.2d 1354, 1359 (1990). The court must consider both the prejudice to be suffered by the defendants, if they are tried together, and by the State of Nevada, if the trials are to be severed. *Id.*, quoting *Lisle v. State*, 113 Nev. 679, 688 – 89, 941 P.2d 459, 466 (1997).

If co-defendants present mutually exclusive defenses, they are prejudiced by being tried together. *Id.*, quoting *Amen*, 106 Nev. at 756, 801 P.2d at 1359. In *Rowland*, this Court expanded on the meaning of 'mutually exclusive' in the context of severance of criminal trials:

2

4

5

\_

8

7

9

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

1920

21

2223

24

26

2728

The Ninth Circuit has stated that defenses become "mutually exclusive" when "the core of the codefendant's defense is so irreconcilable with the core of [the defendant's] own defense that the acceptance of the codefendant's theory by the jury precludes acquittal of the defendant."

Id., quoting U.S. v. Throckmorton, 87 F.3d 1069, 1072 (9th Cir. 1996).

In this case, Mr. Mason presented a case that although he had intended to attend at the scene of the alleged murder, he had not done so for the purpose of participating, conspiring in, or being an accomplice to any robbery, but for the purpose of purchasing illicit drugs. AA00919, 19 – AA00920, 3; AA00923, 6-10; AA00925, 10-AA00926, 2; AA00926, 9-14. Such conduct would not make Mr. Mason liable for any murder committed while the crime he was a participant in was ongoing. On the other hand, and in direct contradiction with the defense of Mr. Mason, was Mr. Burns defense, which augured that not only was Mr. Mason present at the murder, but that an uncharged co-conspirator, Jerome Thomas, a.k.a. Job-Loc, was present and was likely the one who had actually pulled the trigger. AA00927 – AA01005; These defenses are mutually exclusive, the jury could not believe both defenses and acquit both defendants. This is because, if Job-Loc was in attendance as was argued by Mr. Burns, then Mr. Mason's suggestion that there was a plan to purchase drugs only, could not be believed. If Job-Loc was

present, he was present for the purpose of committing a robbery. Severance 3 4 10 11 12 13 14 16 17 18 19 20 21 23 24

was, therefore, necessary, and it was error for the District Court to deny it. It is important to note that, having informed Judge Thompson, in the presence of counsel for both defendants, that he would not do so (AA00449, 2 - 10), the State then intentionally proceeded to elicit the very testimony he indicated he would not. The specific testimony that Judge Thompson allowed, was the explanation for why Mr. Rowland was to dispose of the gun ("Q: Okay. Why is it that you needed to [do] something with the gun? A: That it was used in a murder." (AA00486, 15 - 17)). The State then continued: "Q: Okay. Do you remember any of the – anything else that he told you during that conversation? A: That G-Dogg had shot someone[.]" (Id., 18 – 21.) Putting aside for the moment the fact that this was clearly testimonial hearsay, inadmissible under Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), in fact, hearsay-within-hearsay, it provided the very basis for the defense Mr. Burns employed, and therefore the exact prejudice Mr. Mason sought to avoid immediately came to life. When Mr. Rowland stated that Mr. Mason was the murderer, unlike his previous statements that Mr. Burns was, Mr. Burns was free to point the finger at alternate theoretical suspects. In this case, Mr. Mason warned the District Court that his Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights were on the verge of being violated by the continued joint

trials, and the admission of testimonial hearsay. The District Court, denied the motion for severance, Mr. Mason was prejudiced in the result, and reversal is required.

Furthermore, as mentioned previously, as to Mr. Burns, Mr. Mason's codefendant, the State sought the death penalty. As a result, Mr. Mason was tried by a death-qualified jury. Mr. Mason is aware that the issue of bias in death-qualified juries has been examined by this court, *see*, *e.g.*, *McKenna v*. *State*, 101 Nev. 338, 343 – 44, 705 P.2d 614, 618 (1985), and by the United States Supreme Court, in *Buchanan v*. *Kentucky*, 483 U.S. 402, 107 S. Ct. 2906 (1987). However, this case appears to be a ripe time for re-evaluation of the decisions, given that ultimately, Mr. Mason and Mr. Burns were both tried by a death-qualified jury, in spite of the fact that by the time of deliberation, neither faced the death penalty.

## c. The Testimony of Donovan Rowland was Improperly Admitted Testimonial Hearsay

Witnesses for the State of Nevada may not offer inculpatory evidence in the form of statements made to them by a non-testifying person. *Taylor v*.

Cain, 545 F.3d 327, 335 (5th Cir. 2008).

Indeed, this Court recently referenced *Taylor* when examining this issue, in an unpublished decision. *Santana v. State*, 2015 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 576, 2 – 3, May 18, 2015, Nevada Supreme Court Case No. 65514. ("[E]vidence that only serves to identify the

1	Indeed, the District Court in this case understood and warned the parties	
2	of that fact, during the argument over Mr. Mason's motion to sever. See	
4	AA00448, 21 (At which point, the District Court, having been informed that	
5	Mr. Rowland will testify that Mr. Mason was the 'shooter,' and that he	
6 7	received that information from Jerome Thomas, a.k.a. 'Job-Loc,' responds: "I	
8	can't let him testify to that."). In response, the State told the Court that " he	
9	won't be testifying at least on our direct as it relates to that[.]" AA00449, 7 –	
<ul><li>10</li><li>11</li></ul>	8.	
12	In fact, a brief period of time later, the State of Nevada, during direct	
13 14	examination, intentionally elicited that very testimony:	
15	Q: Okay. Do you remember any of the –	
16	anything else that he told you during that conversation?	
17 18	A: That G-Dogg had shot someone and that was pretty much it.	
19	This testimony, intentionally elicited by the State, and allowed by the District	
20	Court, was a clear and prejudicial violation of <i>Crawford</i> , and of Mr. Mason's	
<ul><li>21</li><li>22</li></ul>	Sixth Amendment rights, specially his right to confront witnesses against him	
23	under the Confrontation Clause. The District Court noted immediately before	
24	that such testimony was inadmissible, and then allowed it into evidence.	
<ul><li>25</li><li>26</li></ul>		
27	defendant as the guilty party violates the Confrontation Clause[.]" citing <i>Taylor</i> , 545 F.3d at 335.)	

This hearsay, was offered by an alleged co-conspirator, and as will be discussed later, a witness that both the District Court and the State was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. It was improperly admitted, as the District Court mentioned immediately before allowing it into evidence, and would necessitate reversal, even in the absence of the improper commentary that augmented its effect.

## d. Mr. Mason Suffered Prejudice by Virtue of an Improper Comment by the District Court with Regard to Donovan Rowland.

As this Court has explained, because judges hold such an esteemed position in the mind of laypersons and jurors, judges must take caution not to make comments that could prejudice the thoughts of the jurors ("What may be innocuous conduct in some circumstances may constitute prejudicial conduct in a trial setting, and we have earlier urged judges to be mindful of the influence they wield." *Parodi v. Washoe Med. Ctr.*, 111 Nev. 365, 367, 892 P.2d 588, 589 (1995)), since even comments that may seem inoffensive or unimportant to the judge can prejudice jurors.

"The average juror is a layman; the average layman looks with most profound respect to the presiding judge; and the jury is, as a rule, alert to any remark that will indicate favor or disfavor on the part of the trial judge. Human opinion is ofttimes formed upon circumstances meager and insignificant in their

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