### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

WILLIE MASON,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Mar 08 2016 02:15 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

Case No. 68497

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

#### Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> To the extent Mason asserts that Rowland's statement is hearsay within hearsay, this complaint is without merit because Thomas is the declarant of the statement and thus, there is only one level of alleged hearsay. AOB at 11.

However, even if this Court were to find that a <u>Crawford</u> violation was committed, because Mason's objection was preserved in district court for review on appeal, it is still subject to a harmless error analysis. 2 AA 444-46; <u>Polk v. State</u>, 126 Nev. 19, 2010 WL 2224467 (Nev. 2010) (*citing* <u>Medina v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 346, 355, 143 P.3d 471, 477 (2006) (recognizing that any potential prejudice from a <u>Crawford</u> violation will be reviewed under a harmless-error analysis)). Here, to the extent that this Court considered this to a <u>Crawford</u> violation, the error was harmless, because there was overwhelming admissible evidence of Mason's guilt.

Martinez testified that prior to their arrival at the apartment, Burns was carrying a large .44 Ruger revolver with a woodgrain handle. 1 RA 226-28; 3 RA 526. Martinez testified that this was a planned robbery and murder and that Mason asked her for \$20 to "make it look like a drug buy." 1 RA 234-41, 249. Martinez testified that on the drive to the apartment, Burns stated that "he wasn't going home empty-handed," and "that he was going to go in there shooting and just merk whoever was in there . . . kill whoever was in there," and then when he returned to the car after the murder he had blood on him. 1 RA 241, 253-54. Cornelius Mayo testified that he heard the gunshots that killed Derecia Newman and entered 12-year-old Devonia's stomach area and that he "saw Derecia sitting on the couch with half her face gone." 2 RA 388-40, 393. Bunting testified that Derecia Newman was found "gripping the \$20 bill," and that there were "a number of bullet strikes

throughout the apartment." 2 RA 484. Rowland testified that after the murder, Thomas had told Burns to take a shower and to use bleach to wash off the blood and used a blue rag to wipe down the revolver. 2 RA 260-62. Police obtained pen registers and examined phone call records between the co-conspirators. 2 RA 496-99. Accordingly, there is no basis on this ground to reverse Mason's convictions.

### **3.** Whether the district court's comments regarding Rowland were proper.

Mason contends that the district court made an alleged improper comment "during the course of an objection and the argument that followed." AOB at 15. Specifically, Mason complains that the district court stated, "He's obviously identified with the defendants, not with the plaintiff. Strange identification I must admit." AOB at 15. Mason contends that this comment allegedly had the prejudicial effect of "marrying" Mason to the testimony given by Rowland prior to the comment. AOB at 15-16. However, this claim is unavailing.

"While the district court must protect the defendant's right to a fair trial, a trial judge is charged with providing order and decorum in trial proceedings, and must also concern itself with the flow of trial and protecting witnesses." <u>Rudin v. State</u>, 120 Nev. 121, 140, 86 P.3d 572, 584 (2004) (internal quotations omitted), <u>reversed on other grounds</u>. No judicial proceeding is completely free from unexpected or unusual circumstances. However, under NRS 1.210 and the Nevada Code of Judicial Conduct, judges are given wide discretion to control the proceedings before them

and take the steps necessary to "promote[] public confidence in the independence, integrity, and impartiality of the judiciary." <u>Nevada Code of Judicial Conduct</u> R. 1.2 (2010); <u>see also id.</u> Scope, cmt. 5 (recognizing that, "[t]he Rules of the Code of Judicial Conduct are rules of reason that should be applied consistent with constitutional requirements, statutes, other court rules, and decisional law, and with due regard for all relevant circumstances. The Rules should not be interpreted to impinge upon the essential independence of judges in making judicial decisions."). This Court has recognized that, "courts have inherent power to prevent injustice and to preserve the integrity of the judicial process." <u>Halverson v. Hardcastle</u>, 123 Nev. 245, 261-62, 163 P.3d 428, 440 (2007).

While a proceeding may be fraught with unusual circumstances, this Court has recognized that remedial action is unnecessary so long as the jury's verdict was not influenced. <u>See Johnson v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 1344, 1359, 148 P.3d 767, 777 (2006) (concluding that the jury was not influenced by the victim's brother fainting after seeing picture of crime scene or jury's discovery of a crack pipe in the jury box).

Here, Rowland had been declared an adverse witness and the State was given permission by the district court to use leading questions during direct examination. 3 AA 508. Subsequently, defense counsel for Burns objected to the State's use of leading questions. 3 AA 514. In making his ruling, the judge simply explained that the witness has seemingly aligned with the defendants. 3 AA 514. The judge was

22

merely ruling on Burns' objection. Despite, Mason's insistence, the judge's statement in no way prejudices Mason. The judge simply explained his reasoning for his ruling, that Rowland was a hostile witness even though he was called by the State. The district court's comment was properly made in the appropriate interests of controlling the flow of the proceedings, saving time, and avoiding confusion and thus, does not amount to judicial misconduct. See Leonard v. State, 114 Nev. 1196, 1211, 969 P.2d 288, 298 (1998) (holding that a defendant was not deprived of his right to a fair trial when the district court admonished defense counsel to quit wasting time by individually greeting each juror during jury selection); Robins v. State, 106 Nev. 611, 624, 798 P.2d 558, 566-67 (1990) (concluding that the "trial judge was appropriately controlling the flow of the trial without prejudice to" the defendant when it admonished counsel); NRS 50.115(1)(c) HN12 (providing that a judge must "exercise reasonable control over the mode and order of interrogating witnesses ... to protect witnesses from undue harassment or embarrassment"). Further, in light of the overwhelming evidence presented at trial, it is unlikely that in a 16-day murder trial, this single comment made during the court's duplicative ruling on a repeated objection had the effect of prejudicing the jury to an extent necessitating reversal.

Further, harmless-error review applies, however, only if the defendant preserved the error for appellate review. <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1190, 196 P.3d 465, 477 (2008). Generally, to preserve a claim, the defendant must object to

the misconduct at trial. <u>Hernandez v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 513, 525, 50 P.3d 1100, 1109 (2002). When an error has not been preserved, this court employs plain-error review. <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003). Under that standard, an error that is plain from a review of the record does not require reversal unless the defendant demonstrates that the error affected his or her substantial rights, by causing "actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Id.; see also United States v.</u> <u>Olano</u>, 507 U.S. at 734 (1993) ("In most cases, a court of appeals cannot correct the forfeited error unless the defendant shows that the error was prejudicial.").

Here, Mason has failed to demonstrate actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice necessitating reversal. Here, as previously discussed, the State presenting overwhelming evidence of Mason's guilt. To the extent that Mason contends the credibility of the witnesses who testified at his trial, this apparent attempt is inappropriate. It is up to the jury to decide whether to believe witness testimony and other corroborating evidence. <u>Origel-Candido v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 378, 381, 956 P.2d 1378, 1380 (1998). This Court gives deference to the district court's factual findings and credibility is weighed by the trier of fact at the time of trial. The fact that Mason may disagree with or dispute the testimony presented at trial is of no consequence.

### 4. The State did not commit prosecutorial misconduct.

Mason asserts that "[t]he State committed several instances of prosecutorial misconduct in its closing argument, as well [as] during its case in chief." AOB at

17. When considering claims of prosecutorial misconduct, the court engages in a two step analysis. <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1191, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). First, the court determines whether the prosecutor's conduct was improper, and second, if the conduct was improper, the court determines whether it warrants reversal. <u>Id</u>. The relevant inquiry is whether the prosecutor's statements "so infected the proceedings with unfairness as to result in a denial of due process." <u>Anderson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 121 Nev. 511, 516, 118 P.3d 184, 187 (2005) (internal citations omitted). The statements must be viewed in context. <u>Id</u>.

As to the first factor, this Court views the statements in context, and will not lightly overturn a jury's verdict based upon a prosecutor's statements. <u>Byars v. State</u>, 130 Nev. \_\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_, 336 P.3d 939, 950–51 (2014). Further, argument is not misconduct unless "the remarks ... were 'patently prejudicial."" <u>Riker v. State</u>, 111 Nev. 1316, 1328, 905 P.2d 706, 713 (1995) (quoting, <u>Libby v. State</u>, 109 Nev. 905, 911, 859 P.2d 1050, 1054 (1993)). Notably, "statements by a prosecutor, in argument, ... made as a deduction or conclusion from the evidence introduced in the trial are permissible and unobjectionable." <u>Parker v. State</u>, 109 Nev. 383, 392, 849 P.2d 1062, 1068 (1993) (quoting, <u>Collins v. State</u>, 87 Nev. 436, 439, 488 P.2d 544, 545 (1971)). Further, the State may respond to defense theories and arguments. <u>Williams v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 1008, 1018-19, 945 P.2d 438, 444-45

(1997), receded from on other grounds, <u>Byford v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000).

With respect to the second step of this analysis, this Court will not reverse a conviction based on prosecutorial misconduct if it was harmless error. Id. at 1188, 196 P.3d at 476. The proper standard of harmless-error review depends on whether the prosecutorial misconduct is of a constitutional dimension. Id. If it is, this Court applies the Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967), standard and will reverse unless the State demonstrates, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the error did not contribute to the verdict. Id. If the misconduct is not of a constitutional dimension, the court "will reverse only if the error substantially affects the jury's verdict." Id., internal citation omitted. Additionally, because Mason did not object to any such instance at trial, this Court reviews these claims for plain error and will only reverse if Mason demonstrates that the error affected his substantial rights by "actual prejudice or miscarriage of justice." Valdez, 124 Nev. at 1190; Rose v. State, 123 Nev. 194, 208, 163 P.3d 408, 418 (2007) ), cert. den., 555 U.S. 847, 129 S.Ct. 95 (2008).

First, Mason complains that the State allegedly made improper commentary during its rebuttal argument. AOB at 20. Specifically, Mason asserts that "[t]hese comments are examples of impermissible burden shifting, and impermissible commentary on the credibility of witnesses." AOB at 19. During Burns' closing statement, defense counsel pointed the jury's attention to the jury instruction on witness credibility and the assertion that "there's going to be conflicts in this case." 4 AA 967. Burns' defense counsel argued that the State presented witnesses as "not credible for Fact A, but extremely credible for fact B," made efforts "to pick and choose how they deliver material to [the jury]," chose to ask testifying witnesses only favorable questions, and made efforts "to deceive," the jury. 4 AA 968, 971-74, 992-93. Burns' defense counsel then proceeded to highlight the alleged inconsistencies and doubts related to various witnesses' testimony and credibility. 4-5 AA 996-1004. Ultimately, defense counsel made a final plea to the jury that Cornelius Mayo, Martinez, and Rowland "are not believable." 5 AA 1004.

During rebuttal, the prosecutor stated, "[s]o let's start off with Mr. Sgro's suggestion that, well, one, apparently we were manipulating witnesses. But two, the quality of witnesses. . ." 5 AA 1008. The prosecutor then went on to rebut the assertions made by Burns' counsel that many of the witnesses "are not believable." 5 AA 1004-09. The prosecutor merely contended that the State was stuck with the witnesses as they were and does not get to hand pick its witnesses for each individual case. Additionally, the prosecutor properly submitted to the jury that the credibility of each witness was not as important as the facts that their testimony revealed. 5 AA 1008-09. These comments made during rebuttal were made by the prosecutor in direct response to statements made by Burns' counsel during Burns' closing

argument. 5 AA 1008. The prosecution may respond to defenses arguments and characterization of the evidence. <u>Williams</u>, 113 Nev. at 1018-19, 945 P.2d at 444-45 (1997). Further, a prosecutor may offer commentary on the evidence that is supported by the record. <u>Rose v. State</u>, 123 Nev. 194, 163 P.3d 408 (2007), <u>cert</u>. <u>den.</u>, 555 U.S. 847, 129 S.Ct. 95 (2008).

Second, Mason asserts that "[t]he State made further improper commentary during its rebuttal, and effectively gave the jury an incorrect instruction on the law regarding witness credibility." AOB at 20. Specifically, Mason complains that the prosecutor said, "[b]ut more importantly, it's not about were they telling the truth on the stand completely about that. Right?" 5 AA 1009. Here, despite Mason's contention, the State did not provide the jury with any instruction on credibility. Instead, the State merely rebutted the defense argument that certain witnesses were not credible and attempted to redirect the jury's attention to the facts presented by their testimony. Again, statements by a prosecutor, in argument, made as a deduction or conclusion from the evidence introduced in the trial are permissible and unobjectionable and the prosecution may respond to defenses arguments and characterization of the evidence. Parker v. State, 109 Nev. 383, 392, 849 P.2d 1062, 1068 (1993) (quoting, Collins v. State, 87 Nev. 436, 439, 488 P.2d 544, 545 (1971)); Williams, 113 Nev. at 1018-19, 945 P.2d at 444-45 (1997).

Additionally, the jury was properly instructed on the weighing of witness credibility, attorney arguments, and reasonable doubt and the jury is generally presumed to follow the district court's instructions. 3 RA 657-59, 662-63; <u>Summers v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 1326, 1333, 148 P.3d 778, 783 (2006). Therefore, Mason is unable to demonstrate that the alleged affected his substantial rights by "actual prejudice or miscarriage of justice," and thus, he is unable to demonstrate plain error. <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1190; <u>Rose v. State</u>, 123 Nev. 194, 208, 163 P.3d 408, 418 (2007).

### 5. Whether there was not cumulative error sufficient to warrant a new trial.

A defendant is not entitled to a perfect trial, but only to a fair trial. <u>Rudin v.</u> <u>State</u>, 120 Nev. 121, 136, 86 P.3d 572, 582 (2004). However, "[t]he cumulative effect of errors may violate a defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial even though errors are harmless individually." <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1195, 196 P.3d 465, 481 (2008) (quoting <u>Hernandez v. State</u>, 118 Nev 513, 535, 50 P.3d 1100, 1115 (2002)). This Court reviews claims of cumulative error based on the following factors: (1) whether the issue of guilt is close, (2) the quantity and character of the error, and (3) the gravity of the crime charged. <u>Mulder v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 1, 17, 992 P.2d 845, 854-55 (2000).

Mason was charged with 8 counts, including several violent crimes: Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon with Substantial Bodily Harm, Robbery with Use of

a Deadly Weapon, and Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon. As discussed above, the issue of Mason's guilt was not close. Mason was convicted by a jury in light of overwhelming evidence presented demonstrating his guilt of the charges. Mason has failed to demonstrate any error. Even if Mason has demonstrated marginal errors, he has failed to prove that they were not harmless.

### **CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing reasons, the district court's Judgment of Conviction should be AFFIRMED.